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DEDICATED TO
MARION PHILLIPS

This issue of Dixon History is dedicated to Marion Phillips, an active and valuable member of
The Dixon Historical Society. Born into a prominent Dixen family, she attended Currey School
and Dixon Union High School. She received the Bachelor of Arts degree from the University
of California at Berkeley and earned her Secondary Credential at College of Pacific, Stockton.
Returning to Dixon High School, she taught Mathematics and Physical Education for five
years. From 1942 to 1947 she worked as a program assistant at USO Clubs in Washington
State and California. She served at Sacramento High School for 30 years, 16 in the Mathemat-
s Department and 14 as Registrar, verifying students’ enrollments, class schedules and eligi-
bility for graduation. Travels have taken her to Central and South America, Europe and East
Africa, Canada, and all but three of the 50 United States. Among her current activities are
California Retired Teachers Association (local Division Treasurer) and The Delta Kappa Gamma
Society International (local chapter and state committees). She commutes from Sacramento
to attend our meetings and to work on each of our issues of Dixon History. She not only has
driven to Dixon many times to ready each issue for publication, but has taken home an occa-
sional manuscript to retype and reassemble into a form presentable for the publisher. She is
generous with her time and her talents, and much of the success of our magazine can certainly
be laid at the door of this special lady. Thank you, Marion.
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“DAIRY CITY"

Emily Rowe

hen northern Solano County was first

setthed in the mud- | 8005 the agnicultural

emphasis was fruit orchards in the hills
north of Vacaville and grain grown as
a dry land crop out on the flatlands. This was the hey-
day of the wagons (and dust!) being driven through
Dixon to Maine Prainie, Napa and ¢lsewhere, laden with
barley to be shipped all over the worid

More and more farmers were coming into this
area, and many people of German ongin were adding
their numbers to the original settlers from eastern states
Most of the roads surrounding Dixon carry the names
of these early farm families.

The coming of the railroad provided a local des-
tination for the grain, which remained the major crop
until the advent of imgation. Prior to the tum of the
century, crops were planted only every other year or
every third year as a method of increasing available soil
nutrients, after planting, the farmer could do no more

than hope for rain,
However, a unique formation of soil rypes was

discovered in the area. The Dixon Ridge is a prism-

shaped alluvial deposit of silty clay loam onginating from
Putah Creek, running southeast and tapering off about
four miles beyond Dixon. Water close to the surface as
in heavy clay adobe soils, drops rapidly when pumping
begins. The Dixon Ridge area was underlain by many
layers of water-bearing gravel, enabling farmers arcund
Dixon to have a plentiful water supphy and, therefore,
raise excellent crops of alfalfa

This was the period when Dixon labeled itself
the “Dairy City.” Farming emphasized alfalfa and milk,
because, with the great success in growing alfalfa, the
dairy industry came 1o Dixon. The following statement
was made in promotional literature published by Sunset
Magazine around 1914: “Dixon is now known as the
Dairy City. It is a title well earned. The prime essentials
to successfill dairving are good feed, pure water, tem-
perate climate and clean surroundings. All of these Dixon
enjoys in abundance ™ The dary that really put Dixon
on the map was the Timm Certified Dairy.  Located at
the north end of Doyle Lane, the farm and buildings were
clearly vistble from both the trains passing nearby as well
a3 the major road to town. For vears people remember
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the advertiserment painted on the roof of the barn - “the
world's largest certified dary™!

The Timm Certified Dairy, established by Henry
R Timum, began operation in 1910 and soon was milk-
ing over 300 cows. Milk was provided to San Fran-
ciscn. Oakland, some smaller cities in the Bay Area, Sac-
ramento and the local area, and also supplied to the
Southern Pacific diners. The Timm dairy began achiev-
ing its success due to rigid rules, frequent inspection by
men appointed by the Milk Commissioners, and the co-
operation of those who produced the milk. The certifi-
cation required each cow to be free of tuberculosis. Stnin-
gent sterilization procedures were Lo be followed by all
milkers as well as handlers of the product to the even-
tual consumers, Certification of milk led the way to the
adoption of state laws, resulting in the present high stan-
dards in the milk industry today.

In its time, certification of milk served a pur-
pose. Inthe 19203 with the development of pasteuriza-
tion and strict purity regulations, certification was no
longer necessary, By this time, Olin Timm’s father had
died. and the Dairy had been sold to the Doyle family.
The Timm Certified Dairy certainly had a significant
impact on Dixon

Ome of the long-reaching effects was that Portu-
guese milkers were hired to work at the dairy, many
coming from the Azores Islands. They later brought

over their families and started dairies themselves. They
developed their own labor supply as rapidly as was phiysi-
cally possible - the Nunes family had fourteen children!
OF the thirty dairies around Dixon at the beginning of
the 1920s, some dairy farmers included the Nunes,
Geotge, Bello, Mello, Brazil, Perreira and Dutra fami-
lies. As you can see from the list accompanying this
article, many descendants of these original milkers still
live in Dixon.

It was also during the alfalfs period that Bill
Weyand shifted his family's flour milling business 1o the
grinding of alfslfa.  The milled alfalfa was shipped to
feedmills from the still-standing old grain towers in
downtown Dixon

Another dairy operation that added greatly to
Dixon's “Dairy City” reputation was the dary owned
and operated by Roy Gill on Currey Road Since this
was also located near the main highway, the large dairy
of around 500 cows was easily visible to everyone trav-
eling to Dixon duning the mid-twenties, thirties and for-
ties. (The establishment of the Milk Farm Restaurant
with its unique neon sign near the Gill Dairy, although
under separate ownership, also identified Dixon as a
known milk producing area to travelers. )

During the years the Gill Dairy was operating it
was the largest dairy in the area, with bunkhouses to
provide quarters for all the men needed for the hand
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milking. It is noteworthy that the Gill Dairy supplied
one-fifth of the milk to the Dairy Delivery Company,
{(later Bordens) that served the entire city of San Fran-
cisco. Even with the advent of milking machines, Roy
Gall preferred to continue the hand-milking as long as
feasible, but eventually ceased the dairy operation after
World War 1T

A local business had its beginnings at the Gill
Daury. Since the quantity of milk being produced neces-
sitated gesting it to market in the Bay Area as quickly as
possible, the Galls could not afford to wait for the trains
for deliveries, as was customary for other dairies in this
area, therefore, the first refrigerated trucks were designed
and busit to haul the milk directly from the farm. This
phase of the Gill operation was managed by Walter
Fuchslin starting in the mid-1920s. From this trucking
expenence, the Fuchsln famaly later established their own
Valley Livestock Trucking Business which is still in op-
eration in Dixon today

Al the time when Dixon was “Dairy City,” local/
area creameries began to be established to process the
growing milk supply. Dixon had its own Dixon Cream-
ery located downtown on West A Street.  The Dixon
Certified Milk Farm, owned by the Hutton Brothers,
milked 175 cows and shipped some of the milk to the
Bay Area, but Fred Hutton also advertised milk prod-
ucts available to local residents. Creameries in the area
that served the earky shippers were the creamery at the
University Farm in Davis (now the University of Cali-
forma, Davis campus) and Crystal Cream & Butter Com-
pany in Sacramento. In the late thirties, the Vaca Valley
Creamerv began operation to serve dairies southwest of
Dixon in the Vacaville area.

Even with transportation no longer a problem,
many dairy farmers changed to other accupations. In
the thirties, dairies were doing poorly and, where there
was water, farmers were expenimenting with other irm-
gated crops. A major impact was the establishment of
the Spreckels Sugar plant in Woodland during this time:
Plant personnel offered incentives to local farmers to
help them make the change to sugar beets, and many
did. Other crops were imgated milo, tomatoes (with
varying success), and alfalfa, as a part of crop rotation.
Away from the Dixon Ridge, barley was still the main
crop. Although this early row crop farming did contrib-
ute to the demise of dairying, it is obvious the expanded
use of imgation in the Dixon area is responsible for
Dixcn's present reputation as prime farm land for a wide
variety of agricultural crops.

Those dairymen who chose to continue dairy
farming had to address new regulations in the dairy in-
dustry. A major requirement developed around 1950
when all milk produced had to be stored in a refriger-
ated bulk tank on the farm, rather than in the 10 gallon
milk cans for Mptﬂg By'this time the local area cream-
eries had gone out of business or converted their opera-
tion to receive bulk deliveries, the milk was hauled in
tanker trucks to the processing plants. The requirement
of the bulk tank meant a significant financial investment
by the dairyman, and many dairy families chose to change
from dairying at that time, leaving only about a2 dozen
farms still milking cows in the Dixon area.

During the last 40 vears, the remaining dairies
have dwindled to three, principally due to economic pres-
sure and retirements. The dairies operating today are as
follows:

1) Innisfall Dairy, owned and operated by the
Stuart Rowe and Dan Lynde families on Pedrick Road,
milking about 200 cows, The Rowe family started dairy-
ing in the Tremont area in 1921,

2} B & G Dairy, established in 1981, operated
by the Jack Beukelman family and owned in partnership
by Tack and Pete Beukelman and Herman and Emie Gnos
(making a return to dairying for the Gnos family from
earlier Dixon davs). Located on Sikes Road, B & G
milks about 750 cows.

3} Bello Dairy, owned and operated by the
Manuel Bello family, who previously dairied in Sonoma
County, milling about 250 cows on Robben Road since ©
purchasing the Misuraca Dairy in 1988

Although the number of dairymen in the area is
certainly drastically reduced, it is interesting to note that
the amount of milk currently being shipped from Dixon
is comparable to the amount that was produced in this
area 30 many years agol Our hats are off to all the in-
dustrious dairy farmers who eamed Dixon the name
“Dairy City” in the past and to those who are :nm'rnulnj'
that tradition today. The following is an alphabetical list
of all known families who have milked cows in the Dixon
area. Many thanks to Achilles Panizza, Dixon area resi-
dent and dairyman from 1918 until 1973, for his prepa-
raticn of this list. We &pologize that most of the wives’
names have been omitted, but certainly acknowledge
their important role on the family farm. If you can add
to this information in any way, please contact The Dixon




Azevedo, Joe, Bill & Kate
Arevedo, Joe & May
Bacianni, Philip & Romeo

Bello, Manuel

Bernardo

Betschart, Malcolm
Beukelman, Pete

Bonora, Ben

Borges, Manuel
Bradanini, Tim & Theresa
Braun, Peter

Bulkley, Irvin
Bueri, John
Burroughs, Frank
Carrington, Chet
Cexil

Cheechow
Cushman, Ellsworth

Dawis, Clarence
DeMhello, Frank
DeMello, Manuel
Direito, Joaquin
Dodini, Julius
Doyle

Dutra, Joe & Tony

Evanikoff, Bert
Ferreira, Tony
Ferrero

Files, Judici
Ford, Pat
Fornens
Fulmore, Jim
George, Manuel
Gill, Roy

Gnos, Joe St

Greco, Joe & Tom
Haroldson, Leo
Harmington

Helms, Donald
Holdener

Hull, Edwin

Hutton, Fred
Inderhitzen, Louie
Johnson

Johnson, Troy
Kerney, Charles
Kitchen

Lasoda

Lewis, Frank

Lewis, Joaquin

Lima

Lynde; Dan
Macedo, Anton & Maria
Machado, Antone
Machado, Tony & Lydia
Maclntyre

Manani, John 5r.
McNair, Elmer
BdcMamara
Misuraca, Charles 5r,
Moore, Bernard Sr
Morse, Lou & Robena
Mulseed, John
Nunes

Oliveira

Panizza, Jerry
Panizza, Peter
Parkhurst

Pedrick

Pereira, Ernest

Reis, John

Robben

Roberti

Original Dixon Dairy Families

Rodgers, Robert
Roszasco

Rowe, John O
Scarafoni, Joe
Schouten, Tom & Pete
Schuey

Schuler

Sequeira Brothers
Seyman

Silva

Souza, Erme
Steiner, Frank
Sweeney, Mike
Timm, Henry
Timm, Malcolm
Truttman, Carl
Vanetti, Alex
Vaneiti, Ben
Vieira, Clarence & Babe
Walker

Watson, Ward
Weber Brothers
Woodard, Irvin
Yolo, Peter
Youngerman




History of the
Dixon Women’s Improvement Club

Researched and compiled by Grace O'Neill
August 1994,
The resource maverial for this history consists sodely of the Club 5 ovwn records, mostly the secretaries ' minutes books
dating from 915 1o 1994, Az they ave written month by manth, much of it will be presented in diory form. The
parertheses indicate explanations or clarifications, mainly by Clin Timm.

The Dixon Womens Club was
preceded by a Shakespearean Club.
In 1905 most of this group became
charter members of our present Club.

he Dixon Women's Improvement Club
was one of many throughout the coun-
try which came into being in the early
1900's. The aim of each of these groups
of women was to contnibute to the civic and social well-
being of its community. Some of these clubs worked
alongside cultural clubs already exasting; others replaced
them. Their determination and willingness 1o pursue
whatever they felt needed “improving” is remarkable.
When they were told Dixon was too small for a town
library, they established the first one in Solano County.
They had to change legislation to do this but do it they
did These women were women of power, and when

they “snapped their fingers the men jumped.”

The first President was Mrs. Robert Currey, who
served from 1910 to Tanuary 1, 1915, Mrs. Emma Jane
Timm was the third president durng the year 1916, They
had their own meeting room in the Library basement.
They purchased a piano March 8, 1915, for $300 from
Sherman Clay of San Francisco and paid it off on No-
vember 8, 19135,

For a number of years the membership remained
small, never exceeding twenty-five. However, in that
time the most important project of its history was car-
ried through. Andrew Camegie was offering library
buildings to communities which would become respon-
gible for meeting certain conditions insuring permanent
upkeep. The members of the Improvement Club fek

that this was an opportunity for Dixon. First they pro-
posed that the Town Board make application to the
Camegie Foundation. Dixon was a small town then with
a population of about 600, The city fathers considered
the obligations were more than such a small community
could assume. The women were not to be easily di-
verted. The next unit they considered was the Dixon
Union High School District, which embraced a large rural
area. Investigation disclosed that a High School Dis-
trict could not legally accept the gift of a library. There
was only one recourse to make it legal They found a
man who would present the case to the legislature. Henry
Petersen, with Legislative ties, was-interested, and he
acted for them. The legislature passed the law, the grant
was applied for, and the District received $10,000 from
the Carnegie Foundation. The 55,000 balance of the
cost ofthe library was procured by the Club. The Schulze
family donated the site and the building was completed
and dedicated in 1913,

S e T
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I'he next most important lmprovement Club con-
tribution to the town was the town park. Many women's
lubs throughout the country chose 1o add to the attrac-
liveness of the community by creating a park somewhere
near its center  The idea caught on m Dixon After
much consideration of various sites, i1 was decided to
make a park in the block north of the hibrary and the
post office. The Schulze family donated a lot, and the
purchase of the comer lot was arranged (o add to that,
and work was begun  There still was a vacant strip be-
tweeen the library and post office line

November 1, 1916 Voted to plant walnut trees from
the town limits south to the cemetery on the west side
of the road and o the park property on the east side of
the road. (This was a driving park and is the current
fairgrounds. Horseracing, etc. were held at this park.)

May 2, 1917 Voted to allow the Chamber of Coiti-
merce to use the piano and chair for May Day evening.
Bought s fag.

September 14, 1917 Held a special meeting o discuss
plans for the entertaining of the drafted men. Voted to
charge 25 cents for the sandwiches, cake and coffee, to
put in a fund to provide comforts for the Dixon soldier
boys

DIXON HISTORY

Oetober 1917 The speaker’s topic was mainly about
food conservation and the part that women will have to
take in this war Club voted to buy a $100 Liberty bond
by taking the money from the Park fund.

October 1917 Mrs. Currey gave the committee report
to confer with the Lodges concerning the trees in the
cemetery. Mr, Madden of the Masonic Lodge had taken
care of the work,

November 1918: No meetings of the Women's Improve-
ment Club during the month of November, because of
the Spanish influenza epidemic.

March 13, 1919 A special meeting of the Club was
called to discuss “park sites”, Four men were present:
Mr. Brown, Mr. J. P. Thomsen, Mr. Van Curen, and Mr.
John Kilkenny. They and the new members were told of
the ambition of the Club since its organization to have a
park. Mrs. Timm, chairman of the Civic Section, then
gave the locations and prices of lots. Each of the fiovar
gentlemen present spoke on the value of having a park,
but wanted a place large enough for a park and an auto-
mobile park combined. Each lady gave her opinion, but
the vate was laid over for the next business meeting when
more members would be present.

April 2, 1919 Mrs. Grace Robben made a repart on
the park sites. After much discussion about the cost of
the street paving, the club decided it could not afford to
buy a park site. Mrs. Dawson moved, and Mrs. Dickie

seconded, to accept the offer of the Town Trustees o

make as much use of the present city park as they wished.
The Town agreed to take care of it once the ladies had
beautified it.

Miss Bloom and Miss Dudley donated their $5-a-month
salary to the tree fund

Mr. Rattenbury offered to let the ladies have the use of
the show one night a month or oftener if they desiregd.
They could arrange for half the receipis or take com-
plete charge including the expenses. They ook half of
the receipts

October 1, 1919: The first night of the show showed a
deficit of $7.69. They decided they needed more adver-
tising.

Mrs. Currey sent a letter suggesting we buy the Presby-
terian Church site for a club house. No action to be

=
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taken until more information is available. Mrs. H. B.
Robben suggested the Chub give a dance or a card party
to raise money for the park  After a lengthy discussion,
it was voted that a sealed vote of the members be taken
October 15, and to have as many members as possible
present. On October 15 the “yes” vote won a very large
majority. There was still a deficit in their show so they
decided to try one more time and to add a few musical
numbers

January 7, 1920. The show receipts amounted to
$4647 Mrs. H B. Robben called for a vote on the
park. After a lengthy discussion none present seemed
to want to fix the present site. (Fairgrounds)

March 3, 1920 The park was again discussed. Mrs.
Almeida reporied that Mr. Herbert Schulze had talked
with his sister and brother of giving the Schulze lot to
the ladies fior a park site in memory of their mother and
father. Mrs. Timm moved and Mrs. Currey seconded
that the Ladies purchase the (Hyatt) lot lying between
the Clark and Schulze lots, 3600 having been named as
the price. The Ladies were to talk to Mr. Clark, and pay
a deposat if necessary, to hold his fot until it could be
more definitely decided.

April 7, 192¢ Mrs. Schulze reported the Schulze heirs
would give the lot from the post office north, to the
Ladwes for a park. Mrs. Robben reported for the com-
mittee that they had purchased the lot from Mr. Hyatt
for 3400 Mr. Clark and Mr. Little ask 34000 for their
lot but would give a donation of 500 dollars. Tt was
voted unammously to accept, with thanks, the Schulze
lot, and try to raise enough money to buy the Clark and
Little lot. Mrs. Currey moved to take a 60-day option
on this lot, in the meantime the Soliciting Committee to
go out and solicit money for its payment. If money
enough was raised it would be purchased. The deeds to
be made out to the Executive Committee.

May 19, 1920: Mrs. Wilson moved and Mrs. Sparling
seconded that the Club buy the lots for the park.

Septemiber 1, 1928 Put a notice in the paper that the
Women's Improvement Club had nothing to do with the
moving ol the Band Hall

{This was a building the Schulzes owned west of the
Bbrary entrance. [t was used as a dance hall and for

basketball games. It was moved by Bill Weyand to the

comner lot of North First and E Streets. He used it fior
storage and cleared it out every year in time for basket-
ball season, with spectators sitting on sacks of alfalfa
meal Ray Rohwer was the coach )

Mrs. Schmeiser spoke of letting the American Legion,
which is contemplating buying a lot 1o erect a building,
have the corper lot the Improvement Club had just
bought. Mrs. Currey, in answer, asked to go on record
as being pot in favor of ever giving away this lot. Tt the
boys could be benefited by leasing this lot for a term of
years, she would favor such lease, provided the proper
kind of building would be erected, but for no reason to
give away this lot.

Rented their fumiture to the Christian Scientists for $2.00
per meeting, and gave them permission to have a key

November 5, 1920 [t was decided to have the cellars
in our park site filled, the teams to be hired.

It was voted to give 320 to the fund for the relief of
starving children, 1/4 of donation to be used in America
and 3/4in Poland. A suggestion that club dues be raised
was voted down,

March 2, 1921 The ladies, having more money in the
park fund than necessary, decided to pay $350 o Mr.
Clark and Mr, Little on the lot.

April 6, 1921: Mr Weyand, Mr. Petersen, and Mr. E.
K. Wilson were invited inside 1o tell of a plan that had
been made to build a community building on the comer

lot belonging to the Ladies, the whole to be under the

supervision of the High School District. The plan of the
building was shown_..after the men left the women dis-
cussed at great length whether or not to give the lot to
the High Schoaol.

-------------------------------------

October 4, 1922 Mrs. Wilson reported in regard to the
Clark and Little note that the holders were willing to let
the payment of the interest run on but suggested that it
would be to the best interest of the club to procure a
deed as s00n as possible.

November 15, 1922 Gave permission for Evelyn Boyee
to hold a recital in the club room on the 24th.

The program: Mrs. Dietrich sang a solo, Miss Dill,
County Libranan, spoke on the “Celebration of Book

-




Week" and the Solano County Historical Pageant, The
program closed with a song by the Misses Schulze, Rice,
Timm. Kirby and Schmeiser

December 6, 1922 A coffee boiler of the proper size
had been found, but would cost $11.00, so the club voted
not to purchase it.

The town had decided to pave the streets The Park
fronted on two streets. Paying for that street work en-
tailed vears of hard work. One of the mEjor MOoney
makers for many years was the providing of weekly
tunches for the men’s club (Community Council Forum).
These were given in the library basement where, obvi-
oushy, the facilities were far from adequate. Much of
the food was prepared at home and brought in hot,

January 1923 The treasurer reported a balance of
$50 43, forty of which had been borrowed. $140 more
was borrowed to meet the obligations of the taxes and
paving. In the meantime the paving bill was looke into
and it was discovered the club was paying part of the
Sehulze obligations. Mr. Schulze, upon being notified,
reimbursed the club to the amount of $130.84. Bill pre-
sented and ordered paid was §8 25 for recording of deeds
by Mr. Marshall. [t was voted, in order to get a clear
title to the Clark and Little lot, to pay the $50 of inter-
est, and accept Mr. Currey’s offer to loan the amount
due.

January 17, 1923: Miss Halscy was introduced and
spoke in a most intercsting manner upon the naturalistic
school ofthe novel It was proposed that a reading circle
be formed.

February 7, 1923 Paid $583 in taxes. Income for the
month was $67.20. The first three forum luncheons
cleared $25.90, each. Mr. Stanley used the lefi-over
lumber from the Bazaar for making tables, the same to
be marked Improvement Club Property.

Let the WOTU use kitchen and dishes for Fathers and
Sons banquet. Bought Indian head material and made
tablecloths

February 21, 1923 The Community dinner cleared
$251.25 Program: A recitation by Mrs. Wilson, fol-
jowed by “experiences of the members present in the
earning of money for club funds™ They were many and
varied. Mrs. Little won a prize for having earned the
most money by making angel food cakes . $22.70. Total
member earnings was $162 77,

March 7, 1923: WCTU asked the club to endorse the
movement Lo secure 2 community nurse. They did
The historical pageant is going nicely and Dixon will
take care of its own episode.

Mrs. Currey was appointed a commitiee of one to cor-
respond with the state gardener regarding plans for the
park.

April 4, 1923: WCTU asked for the loan of the table
cloths to be used for the Native Daughters’ banguet.
This heing a newly organized parior, permission was
granted,

April 18, 1923 Meeting called to order by the presi-
dent followed by Marie Rossi's Clown Song.. Accepted
12 dust mops for sale for the Club's benefit. Mrs. Dudley
and Mrs. Currey announced plans to have a card pgrty
for Club proceeds.

The matter of aliowing the members to hold card par-
ties for the benefit of the Club was laid over til there
should be a larger representation of the Club present. It
was voted to pay Larmon Bruno's bill for 32285 for
work on the park lot.

May 23, 1923 In 1922 there were 51 members and in
1923, seventy. Total receipts for the year were $2201.90.
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Total expenditures were $1585.48. The question was
asked of cach member present, ““What has pleased vou
maost in the work of the Club during the year? The
largest number favored the “experience™ meeting.

September 5, 1923 Committee chairmen for the year:
Vocal Music ... Mrs. Dietrich

Instrumental Music ... Mrs. E. Eggen

Literature .. Mrs. Emma Jane Timm

History and Landmarks ... Mrs. Joy

Country Life Section ... Mrs. Scott

Americanization .. Mrs. Rich

The Tremont people asked the Club to serve refresh-
ments at the dance on September 10th. The Club made
$49 .50 and voted to serve again at the next Tremont
dance. Mrs. Currey was asked to continue on the Park
Committee. Voted to let the Community Council use
the piano for the Wednesday forum if it was returned to
the club room.

The Amernican Legion asked to bormow the piano. Per-
mission granted.

November 21, 1923 With Miss Madeline King at the
piano, eight little girls daintily dressed in white gave the
“Clock Dance.” The following participated in the dance.
Frances Petersen, Kathleen Hall, Virginia MeCrimmon,
Helen Filbert, Caroline Sedgwick, Ramona Peacock,
Marion Phillips, and Fern Almeida

Deceniber §, 1923 1t was voted to loan silverware and
linens to the Catholic ladies. A request for the Club to
serve a dinner for the Sacramento Valley Electrical So-
cicty at the Substation was approved. Voted to pack
Christmas boxes for the old ladies at the County hospi-
tal ... and 1o remake the Club’s tablecloths

Jamwary 16, 1924; Several individuals and firms con-
tributed to the furnishing the Club kitchen with electri-
cal equipment. Made fifty dollars serving refreshments
at the Legion dance. Mr. Duncan requested permission
for his High School “Kilties Band™ 1o give a Scottish
program for the Club. This was granted. Tt was voted
to pay Dixon's portion of the deficit left by the Benicia
Pageant Committee of $35.70.

The matter of leasing a corner of the Park to the Stan-
dard il Company for 350 per month was discussed and
voted favorably, providing no billboards were placed on
the property.

February 24, 1924, Mrs. Alexander wrote the words
of a Club song and the music was written by Mrs. Fos-
ter. {The song was published and sung at Club meetings
off and on for many years.)

Mrs. Bell told of the discovery and naming of the Sacra-
mento River, Miss Hutchinson gave a biography of
Concepcion Arguello, and read the poem by Bret Harte.
Mrs. Timm read a letter written by Mrs. Julian of Sacra-
mento in 1862, about the terrible flood of that year (The
flood took out Maine Prairie, and covered a very large
portion of Solano County.) An article was read about
the placing of the Bronze Tablet by the Daughters of the
Amencan Revolution at Benicia, in commemoration of

the early Legislature meeting there.

March 19, 1924: Amencanization Committee Chair-
man Mrs. Rich pleaded that we not talk “America fior
Amenicans, but America for the World. For, in America
15 the hope of the world.” And several musical selec-
tions depicted various nations: Mrs, Little, Scotch, Mrs.
Kumle, in costume, Spanish, Mrs. Rossi as an Italian
bride; Mrs. Duetrich, Irish. The program ended with all
singing “America the Beautiful”,

April 2, 1924. The Methodist ladies received permis-
sion to use the Club room,

Mrs. Virgil Robben asked about the removal of a certain
tree in the Park by Standard Oil. Mesdames Currey and
H Robben were asked to investigate this,

Program: Mrs. Rossi and Mrs. Alexander presented a

patriotic pageant. Actors were: Mr Alexander gave

the history of our country, Judson Madden represented
Uncle Sam; Miss Madden, in costume, gave the “Land-
ing of the Pilgrnims™, Mrs. Janet Robben represented the
Indian Peniod. “Paul Revere's Ride” was read by Mrs.
Hutchinson. Mrs. Madden sang “The Star Spangled
Banner”. Mrs Wilson was a black Mammy, represent-
ing the Civil War period. Mrs. Rossi was a Red Cross
nurse. Mrs. Weyand, as the Goddess of Liberty was
then brought in by Uncle Sam  The story ended with
the singing of “God Bless America”

May 27, 1924: Suggested that more of the ladies get
involved in the Study Club, it being both enjovable and
profitable.

The president rcpurted the Standard Oil Company was
building its new service station.

After some discussion, the Park Committee was asked
o wrile a letter to the Firemen asking them to move the

=
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(fire) tower before the park is laid out, and by October
15th Mrs. Dudley to replace Mrs. Currey on the Park
Committee.

September 3, 1924. To arouse enthusiasm and compe-
fition in a drive for new members, it was decided to have
two captains and have a contesl.

For many years the Club was affiliated with the
American Federation of Women, Dixon was very &c-
tive, and had several members become officers in the
Solano Chapter. Among them were: Gertrude Dickae,
Mrs. Angus Madden, Mrs. Emil Rossi, Emma Jane
Timm, Madeline Evans, Mrs. Robert McKenzie, Mrs.
Eggert Rohwer, Mrs. George Armstrong, Bea Spangler,
Joy Wrigley, Mrs. A Alexander, Mrs. Rose Townsend,
and Mrs. James Wiggins At the Biennial Convention at
Los Angeles, with 8,000 delegates in attendance, many
noted speakers were present, one of whom made an elo-
quent plea for the redwoods. Another gave a fine talk
on the immigrant problem, the topic “Who Shall Inhert
the United States™

Representatives of the vanous women’s maga-
zines were present at the Press lunch, also noted women
writers, among them being Gene Stratton Porter.

The music of the convention was performed by real art-
ists. All the well-known artists and composers that could
be assembled were there — Caman, Carrie Jacobs Bond,
and the leader of the Chicago Symphony Orchestra be-
ing among those mentioned.

The General Federation had endorsed the Eighteenth
Amendment (Prohibition) and the Convention was asked
to reaffirm it Each state seconded the amendment and
finally the whole convention was on ils feet.

Hoth men and women speakers stressed the home —
saying that the home is the center of influence, and as
the home is, so is the community The plea was put
forth to go back to the fine principle of the home

April I, 1925; A discussion was held as to whethe: the
Club should decorate the Queen’s float for May Day. It
was decided to ask the High Scheol to take charge of it
and the Club to plan a float of our own

Mrs Timm read a letter from Mr. Herbert Schulze say-
ing that the 50 foot lot owned by 0. C. Schulze, Inc
could be had for $3000. After a discussion, it was voted
that the Club go ahead with the work and plant the shrub-
bery on our 100 feet. Mr. Henry Petersen was going to

pay for the hauling of the dirt used to fill the park lot.

May 6, 1925 Discussion of the purchasing of the addi-
tipnal fifty feet led to the motion that the Club wait till it
became known how much outside assistance would be
offered before voting definitely. 1925 had eighty-five
members

Mrs. Timm reported that the men had raised fifteen hun-
dred dollars as their contribution toward the purchase
of the Schulze lot for the Park. It was voted to buy the
Schulze lot and that a vote of thanks be extended to Dr
Hall for his part in raising the money. Mrs. Timm gave
a most satisfactory report from the Park Committee tell-
ing of all that had been accomplished during the year. A
note of thanks will go to all who had, in various ways,
contributed either time, labor or money this spring in
getting the Park so well started. Some of these were
Mr. Sedgwick, Mr Petersen, Mr. Schmeiser, Mr.
Kilkenny, Mr Ahern, Mr. Nudd and Mr. Van Curen.

September 1925: Decided to give a card party 1o make
MOnEY

(October 1925 $2300 in checking. The Community
Council asked the support of the Club in regard to get-
ting pledges signed to make the highways safier for the
public. They endorsed it. The program was given by Mrs.
Currey, who spoke about her trp, dwelling mostly on
the Holy Land, but describing the styles of Paris to the
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delight of the ladies. The deed for the new lot is just
about ready and they decided to get title insurance for
515,

A sign appeared on the lot and Rev. Wolfe was told to
remove it as it was against the onginal policy. (Rev.
Wolfe, Pastor of the Methodist Church, believed in ad-
vertising )

The Sacramento Stock Co. wanted the Club to put on a
play, but it decided, since it did not know the quality of
the play, it would decline, and put on one of its own
from the excellent talent in Dixon. Asked the Abate-
ment District to look into the mosquito danger, as the
old park seemed 1o be a breeding place for them.
Established a committee to send flowers to members
who were ill enough to be in the hospital. Mr. Marshall
reported that the Title Co. would not insure the title to
the property purchased from the Schulze heirs, because,
at some time or other, a small portion had been given
for an alley or driveway and the records were not elear
Title Co. was instructed to clear the title at an additional
cost.

March 3, 1926 Voted to plant shrubs on the strip of
reserved land and to take a chance on having to move
them later, Voted to send a @it of not more than 3250
to Suisun for their new club house.

The ladies suggested that taxation may be a way to pay
for the cemetery

They had many committees, and they changed
pericdically. September, 1926, had:
Press: Mrs Dunnichif and Mrs. Atkinson
Music: Mrs. Snead, Mrs, Madden, Mrs. Cowden,
Mrs. Wevand, and Mrs Kumle
Literature: Mrs. Vaughn, Mrs, Briggs, and Miss
Madden
Child Welfare: Mrz. Dietrich
History and Landmarks: Mrs, Bell
Conservation: Mrs. Watson, Mrs. Sedgwick, and
Mrs. Johnson
American Citizenship: Mrs. Rich, Mrs. H. Bruhn,
and Mrs. J. H. Petersen
Flowers: Mrs. J. Kilkenny and Mrs. C. Richards
Park: Mrs. Tioum, Mrs. Kilkenny, and
Mrs. Dudley
Membership: Mrs. Dickie, Mrs, Duke,
and Mra Atkinson

Federation News: Mrs. Joy
Better Homes and Gardens: Mrs. Runge
and Mrs. Harris
Art: Mrs. Earl Duke, Mrs. H Robben,
Mrs. | Beckdey, and Mrs. F Peacock
Muotor Safety Department: Mrs. Parsons
Mr. Kilkenny, Mr. Schmeiser, and Mr W Morse, a com-
mittee from the Community Council, are taking charge
of laying pipe.

December, 1926 Mrs. Currey, Mrs. Timm and Mrs.
Laura Robben went before the Town Board secking &
little leniency regarding payment of park taxes. Mrs.
Dunnichiff reported that a family in the community needed
assistance. The Club responded with aid. A message
wis read from Santa Claus, who had left dime banks for
each member to be filled during the year

Evelyn Moss sang two very pretly songs,

February 3, 1927 Mrs, Alexander reported the Car-
penter boys had been to see her regarding renting the oil
station from Standard Oil, since Standard 04l was going
to sublet it to someone. Since the Club had not been
contacted, Mrs. Laura Robben, Mrs. Atkinson and Mrs,
Timm were appointed to confer with all parties. Mrs
Kilkenny, dressed as the Masked Wonder, delighted the
audience with her clever jigming. and the Misses Elda
Schmeiser and Evelyn Moss sang five numbers which
pleased the audience very much. Mrs Angus Madden
and Mrs. Kumle gave a very real interpreation of Rag-
gedy Ann. A humorous skit, “How They Made Their
Dollar”, was given by the following ladies: Mrs.
Shangraw, Mrs. Alexander, Mra. Little, Mrs. Timm, Mrs
Dickie. Mrs. Parsons, Mrs. Schmeiser, Mrs. Laura
Robben, Mrs. Schulze, Mrs. Bell, Mrs. Atkinson, Miss
Wilda Madden, Mrs. Young and Mrs. E. Rohwer The
meeting and the program were held in the theater.

May 4, 1927. The grass is planted. Now warch it growg
The annual Jinx of the Women's Club was held at the
home of Mrs. Bell About fifty girls attended the party.
Games were played.  Singing and dancing were enjoyed
by all, and it seemed the children would never get enough
to eat. But, as Mrs. Bell is noted for being an ideal
hostess, she attended to all the wants of the children,
and all left the ranch feeling that they had a most de-

hightful time.
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September 7, 1927, The president told the Club mem-
bers about the “high mountain” they had te climb, but
felt sure that the grade would be made. The ladies all
agreed the grade would be made, and in high gear. An
unexpected pleasure was the taking of pictures of the
Club members by a movie picture man as a part of a
home town film to be shown at the Dixon Theatre.

December 21, 1927 Gave pernussion to the Commu-
nity Council to plant a live tree, or put one in a container
for Christmas purposes, in their park. The dime banks
were opened and the contents amounted to $143.60.

February 1, 1928: Voted that Mrs. Timm write to the
Carpenter Bros. allowing them to put a drainage oil pit
back of the gas station, Voted to allow the Redmen to
use the piano once a week for orchestra practice, pro-
viding they keep it in tune ‘Worked with the State Dept.
of Public Health to insure passage of a law requiring all
milk to be pasteurized or certified, also to keep child
care centers open. Mrs. Jahn gave a whistling solo for
the ladies’ enjoyment.

November 21, 1928 The aiternoon was mostly devoted
to Franz Schubert in commemoration of the one hun-
dredth anniversary of his death. Mrs Mclntyre offered
to dress dolls for two-year-old girls. Decided to find
out more about the Girls Relief Home in Oakland be-
fore further contributions.

Gave Standard Oil permission to cancel lease if the High-
way is changed. (The highway was later moved to Ad-
ams Street.)

June, 1929 The last meeting of the season was held at
the driving park. It was a regular picnic in more ways
than one, All kinds of outdoor games were played, the
feature being a baseball game. There were foot races,
sack races, and a three-legged race that was a scream,
of course. There was a fat woman's race which was
won by Mrs. Warner.  The picnic lunch was enjoyed by
all the girls and a general good time was had by all

To be continued in Dixon History 1V {or lssue 4)

R,
4




DIXON HISTORY

PAGE 13

Wnrkiug Sheep Dogs of Dixon
18 August, 1988
Robert Brown

Drear Olin,

If I am to continue this furious comrespondence I
figured it was time to dust off this old typewriter. Hav-
ing had a secretary 10 do such chores when [ was at the
Buckeye, it has been some eight years since ['ve beaten
on this poor old thing, so I hope you will excuse the
imevttable tvpos you will encounter,

For several years Dixon had some repute as the
western home of the Border Collie and this was a well-
carncd distinction.

You will recall the pre-World War II economy
of the Dixon area. Very little land was irrigated and the
predominant farm structure was a mix of sheep and bar-
ley. Barley could be grown for about two years in a row
on a piece of ground; then it was best to let the land rest
fior a few years before repeating the barley planting
Sheep could be rased on the recently worked ground
without sericusly puncturing it. They could also make
efficient use of the barley stubble. Hence, the develop-
ment of an economy that one man could concervably
manige except during the harvest season; then there were
lots of kids on vacation from school, In order to man-
age his work alone the sheep-barley growers of Solano
County learned early on that a good dog could be of
immeasurable assistance,

I don’t know who the first visionary was to bring
Border Collies into the Dixon area. [ do know that my
father, Homer Brown, was using those dogs in the early
208

Two factors that contributed to the popularity
of the breed were the University of California at Davis
and the old Straloch Farms
(where the University Air-
port is now). Both entities
employed shepherds Lo care
tor thewr flocks of sheep and
those shepherds were pre-
dominantly Scots.

The history of the
Border Collie in California
was not restricted to the
Dixon area but Dixon dogs
were, for a time, preeminent

George Philip was a
herdsman at UC, Davis.

Many students worked around the sheep bam in return
for free housing Gecrge saw that they were all prop-
erly indoctrinated as to the intrinsde value of Border
Collies

Tim Harper was a shepherd at Straloch Farms.
He later went into business in the Dixon area, living in
the house most recently occupied by Bud Anderson. Jim
had a dog called Luke that was probably the best around
during the early and mid 1930s

My father had an English immigrant working for
him, Jack Cormnthwaite. Jack had a really good bitch,
Lassie. I can recall the excitement when Dad got a pup
out of Lassie, sired by Luke

During the late "30s a man named Blankenship
was the shepherd for the Hubbard family at Woodland
and he, for a time, had the best dog around.

About 1940 several Dixon arca men started look-
ng far afield for their dogs in order to improve the blood-
lines. Dad bought a dog and a bitch from a man in New
Hampshire Bill Hosselkus and Sam Thompson bought
a pair from Scotland. This latter pair produced some
really fine dogs, particularly the bitches they produced.
More on these batches later.

Dunng and immediately after World War 11 Jim
Palmer had the top dogs, based on their trial perfor-
Mances

The first truly national sheep dog championship
trial was held in Utah in 1948, Jim won with his dog,
Tweed. The following year, after making a movie, Thun-
der in the Valley - a version of the old book, Bob, Son
Of Battle - Jim returned to
Utah with two dogs, Tweed
and Tweed's 11-month old
son, Hemp. At this point Jim
Palmer was a very sick
As most dog handlers do, he
opted to show his young dog
first, saving Tweed for a later
performance afler he had al-
ready worked the course once.
The problem was that Jim's
illness had its effect during the
interim. | have been told that
when Tweed approached the
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pen with his sheep, Jun was so weakened that he was
physically unable to properly direct him. Consequently,
Tweed placed second behind his 11-month old son,
Hemp.

Tim died shortly afer that trial. During his ter-
minal illness he agreed to sell Hemp to Dick McCloskey,
Dad's sheep foreman at that me.

Dick already had Tip, one of the previously men-
tioned Hosselkus bitches. With these two dogs Dick
pretty much swept the field for a while.

In 1948 Dad imported Moss from Scotland.
Moss, particularly when mated with the Hosselkus
bitches, produced some outstanding dogs. To give you
some idea of the preeminence of his bloodlines, I now
have in my backyard a direct descendent of the old Moss,
wha 1 have named Moss because he looks so much like
that grand old dog,

Moss’s most illustrious offspring was King
King, as a puppy, was given to Charlie Null by my Dad.
Charlie was working for Dad at that ume.

After 1948 no more truly national trials were held
for many years, During the "30s the most hotly con-
tested competition was the Far Western Sheep Dog Tn-
als. held in conjunction with the California Ram Sale in
Sacramento.

Beginning in 1953, King won the Far Westemn
for 7 consecutive years. He was probably the best and,
certainly, the most consistent dog I have ever seen. King
also had his chance at motion picture glory. Charlie
worked him in two movies, The Proud Rebel, starring
Alan Ladd and another movie whose name escapes me
bt it starred Anthony Quinn, Anna Magnani, and Tomny
Franciosa. He was also used in some TV specials,

Following the reign of King came Reg Griffin's
wrn. Reg had lots of good dogs over the years but the
best, by far, was a dog called Moss.

Truly national trials were held during the 1960's
and in 1968 one was held at Santa Rose, Califorma.
Reg’s Moss won that trial and, incidentally, I was one of
the judges

One of the grandest aspects of a sheep dog trial
is the shedding. This is where the dog and handler work
together, maneuvering the sheep until the handler spies
an opening and calls his dog between the sheep to sepa-
rate one or two sheep in accordance with the judges’
instructions. Most handlers accomplish this by aid of a
long cane. Properly dropped, the cane will slightly startle
the sheep and create a gap into which the dog is called.
I don’t think Reg ever wrote a book on shedding, but he
should have.

He would stand, without a cane, and direct his

dog When the moment was right he would call Moss 1
and the dog created the split. Tt was a magnificent thing |
to watch '

Moss had faults in the other aspects of his work.
Reg pretty much knew how to minimize those faults in
his handling of him Moss’s shedding was great, but 1
still think that King was the grandest dog I have ever
been privileged to watch.

The sheep business is no longer as important in
the Dixon area as it once was, but there are still some
that keep the flame burning

Robert McGrew now has a fine dog that he uses
in competition

There were, in addition to those previcusly men-
voned, others that had a lot to do with Border Collies
and who made contributions to the growth and devel-
opment of the breed. Wes Wooden, Harold Taylor, Bob
Finlay, Bob Shreve, and Lev Beebe all played roles that
wiere pertinent at one time or another, plus others whose
names | have forgotten.

Bill Hosselkus still lives on his place on the edge, ">
of the Bypass and may be able to amend or add to this. '
In closing let me indulge my conceit and share with you
a paean to my dogs that 1 wrote:

Noble dogs, greal dogs!
How many have [ had? -,
Thirty? O forty? 3
Darned few that were bad, i
Steady and courageous, r
Rerter help than mosi men,
They 'd work “til they dropped
And try even then.
Intelligence is
The real gist of their game.
Smooth is their style,
Border Collie ¥ their name,
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MAINE PRAIRIE

Lucy Vassar

he arca known as Maine Prairie was lo-
S cated ten miles southeast of Dixon Part
: of it was swamp and overflow land of
the Sacramento River Delta.
As reported in the Dixon Tribune of April 14,
1977, “Before the days of the railroad, Maine Prairie
was one of the most important shipping points, second
only to Stockton. In 1859, Captain Joseph C. Merrithew
and John N. Udder set up a merchandising business a1
the head of navigation on Cache Slough. Ths slough
extended mto the great wheat and cattle regions of the
plains around Silvey's, and was navigable by light-draft
steamers and small satling vessels drawing no more than
ten feet of water
“In 1860, another firm, Deck and Company (H
G. Deck, H. Wilcox and N, D. Vail) located on the north
bank of the slough, just across from Merrithew's. Soon,
& lively trade was built up, and a small settlement, con-
sisting mostly of mercantile houses and warehouses for
the storage of grain, began to grow. Vessels putting in
at this point carried in coal, lumber, and merchandise
for the farmers, and carmed out hay, grain, and stone,

which was quarnied nearby, thus making it unnecessary
for them to run in ballast

“The countryside surrounding Main Landing was
mostly marshland, consisting of sedges and tles (bul-
rushes 10 to 12 feet high) and wire grass, excellent feed
for cattle. Prior to the establishment of Main Landing,
this area abounded m game of all kinds, The marshes
provided excellent cover for antelope, deer, elk, coy-
otes, cottontal rabbits, geese, ducks, quail, and beaver
Gnizzly bears were to by found in the Montezuma Hills
just south of Cache Slough, and the Sacramento Kiver
supported a large fishing industry dependent upon the
vearly salmon run.  This was truly a sportsman's para-
dise, Professional hunters and sporismen were legion in
that area and game was quickly killed off,

“In the early sixties, settlers preempted B0-acre
and &40-acre tracts of land near Main Landing. This
attempd to cultivate what was largely marsh land proved
Lo be a fiasco due, it is alleged, to the hardpan and alkali
content of the soil. In less than five years, every farmer
had found out this mistake and moved on to more pro-
ductive areas, leaving behind them their deserted houses
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which stood, lonely and neglected, in mute testimony 10
the unproductiveness of the soil. Main Landing contin-
ued to grow, however, and by the end of 1861 it had a
population of 50 residents. (About this time, most ref-
erences change the spelling to MAINE ) In 1862, Maine
Prairie, as the setilement came to be called, had four
hotels: The King Hotel, Cache Slough House, Fort
Pinckney, and Fort Sumpter, owned by G. E. King,
Rebecea Lewis, Charles Scott, and Rich C. Perry, re-
spectively. Each establishment charged its roomers a
flat rate of one dollar a day. In addition, there were two
salocns, owned by Charles Scott and Rich C. Perry, and
a third called Hill's Saloon. Captain John H Cushing,
Deck & Company, Charles Scott and Captain Merrithew
carmied on general merchandising businesses, and Deck
& Co. and Cushings also dealt in groceries

“Maine Prairic might have risen 1o even greater
heights, had it not been for the unfortunate calamity
which befell it in the year 1862 This was the year of the
big flood. In January, & heavy rain began in the moun-
tains, followed by a period of warm weather. The effect
of this was that the snow pack in the Sierra began to
melt swiftly, and soon the many tributanies of the Sacra-
mento River became raging torrents and overflowed their
banks, The people in the Sacramento Valley had no
warning of their dangerous plight, due to the fact that,
while it was raining in the mountains, little or no rain fell
on the plans.”

| am a relative newcomer, having been in Dixon
only since 1964 Nancy and Bill Campbell, our men-
tors, introduced us to the Maine Prainie area. My hus-
band, Ervin, had shown sheep at fairs for the Campbells
in the "30s, and later took rail cars of rams 1o San Angelo,
Texas, for them 1 know that, although there may be
beautiful, sunny weather in the valley, if the rain starts
up in the hills, and the snow melts in the mountains, the
rivers may flow full Incoming tides from the Pacific
can hold the water back. The Maine Prairie area is then
“between a rock and a hard place” and there is no place
for the water 1o go but up. This floods those low-lying
areas around Maine Prairie.

In 1862, there was a barrier on the side where
Merrithew was located, which gave him proteciion from
the water, This was to no avail in turning the strong
current of the Sacramento away from the new town on
the other side. King, proprietor of the hotel, estimated
his loss at $1,500. Carmmington, a blacksmith, said he had
reascn to believe his loss was from 5250 to $300
Cushing lost about $1,500. Beck & Company store sus-

tained a loss of $12,000. Merrithew’s own loss was
around $5.,000. The total loss was estimated to be
$25,000. In addition, abowut 600 tons of hay and some
14,000 sacks of grain were ruined. This loss fell upon
the farmers in the vicinity whose crops were stored there
for shipment. The hay floated away and ran aground
miles away in shallow water on the higher ridges of tule
lund. Folks were grieved to hear that the people who
had been living at or near the landing were in great des-
titution, and hoped some means would be devised for
their relief The water was 12 feet deep on what had
been esteemed high ground, and for three days there
had been no appreciable decline in depth. Thousands of
cattle and sheep, feeding on sea-level plains, wess
drowned in the rampaging flood water. On January 47
1862, the Solano Herald described the town as being
“three feet deep under water™ John N. Udder reported
that every warehouse and dwelling in town had been
swept before the flood, and anncunced the determina-
tion of the people to rebuild and 1o not be blotted out.
Some started to rebuild on the old, low site, puiting the
buildirgs on stilts. Others accepted the offer of Mrs.
Rebecca Lewis to locate on her ranch, a quﬂet’*nf a
mile upstream, on slightly higher ground.

Again from the 1977 Trbune: “The new town
thus formed was dubbed 'Alton’ in honor of 5. R. Perry,
a friend of Mrs. Lewis from Alton, [llinois. Ths in-
domitable woman opened a new hotel called the Maine
Prairie Hotel Soon Cushing Brothers and the firm of
Perry & Co. (8. R Perry and Wm. C. Palmer} opened a
general merchandise store and built warehouses for the
storage of lumber and grain. F. W, Petrus opened a black-
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smith shop and Captain James A. French opened a large
store. For atime it seemed as if the faith of the settlers
in their town’s frture would be justified.

“The year 1863 produced a bumper grain crop
The Sclano Press reported it thusty: "The crops around
Putah Creek and on the plains around Sihvey's are better
than they have been for four years. As the people of
that region haul most of their produce to Main Landing,
or Alton, the business of those rising places must be
exceedingly brisk. A larger amount of hay has been cut
in the same region this season. Inone day in 1863, 36,000
pounds of wheat were brought in by one team pulling a
train of three wagons a distance of 25 miles from a ranch
on Putah Creek. In that same year, 50,000 tons of grain
were shipped from this point.”

“It was no uncommon occurrence for 180 wag-
ons 1o be seen in town in a single day, all loaded with
grain, and each drawn by an eight-mule or a ten-mule
team. This booming business was shor-lived, however,
and it is interesting to note that in 1364 (which was a
dry year) only one load of grain was brought to town.
The flood of 1862 had knocked the town of Maine Prai-
e to its knees and, while it was still tottering, the com-
petition of the California Pacific afler 1868 dealt it the
fatal blow.™

The original Maine Prairie School, withits porch
all the way around, was another loss in the flood. When

men went by boat to check on i, they looked i the
window and saw the piano floating at the ceiling. In
1862-1863, the new Maine Praine School was built on
the northwest corner of the intersection of what are now
Morton and Bartlett Roads. The school was moved, n
1924, 10 the corner of Robben and Maine Prairie Roads,
where it met its demise. Moonlight School was buili 2
1/2 miles south of Lindsey Slough, close to the road on
the east side of Rio-Dixon Road. Enterprise School was
on the same road norih of Bio Visia Road, not far form
the comer

Some historical quotes; “CwrSawuary 23, 1875,
Capitain Merrithew has nomed his new schooner, re-
certly lemmiched ar Maine Prairie. He called it for his
oldest son, C. H. Merrithew,”

In February of 1875, "Capiain Starion fefi here
Wednesday with 110 tons of whear bound for
Friedlander The schooner C. H. Merrithew, hauled
oul fo one of the weirs 133 fons of wheat, 250 fons full
foad So light in her draft that she could easily floaf fo
Nan Francisco, ™

A letter from a Mr. Stuart, dated September 20,
1875, describes the area: 7 first sedtled in Cache Slough
I 'was pleased with the place and T wished [ could re-
main here for the balance of my days, but it is not fo be.
{ am preparing io make my departure. Farewell, Cod s
beauiiful Maine Prairvie. With tearful eyes and heart, |

-




PAGE 18

DIXON HISTORY

bid vou adier. Noi long will I be able to boat down the
[farr basom of the peaceful waters of Cache Slough and
bigy fish from the Chinese fisherman, and on my redurn,
swearing that we 'd caiched every one of them. Never
again will [ be able to stand in three feet of water and
tules diring hunting season. I took a stroll 1o the ship-
yard roday and ook first look and found the work of o
large new schooner. A huge thing 120 feet long, 14 feet
by 18 inches thick, her lengith 145, deep hulled 12 feet
and she will be rigged a 3-masted schooner.  She will
carry 5 000 feet of limber. The plans show that she will
be a magnificent vessel, one that will please Mr.
Mortensen af the head of master building. The lumber
frevde 15 brisk amd all of the business good ™

Some of the family names from Maine Prairie
and Binghamton were Lutiges, Brown, Parler, Peters,
Petersen, Norton, Rogers, Blakemore, Comber, Davas,
FZimmerman, McCune, and Meany

During the vears 1886 through 1890, Mr. Will-
iamn White delivered the mail from Dixon to Binghamton
and Maine Prairie. The mail wagon had high wheels to
et through the mud and ruts in the winter, and, in the
summer, dust. After 1906, Mr. Jackson delivered the
mail from Dixon to Binghamton and to the new post
office that was built on the Luttges property, Mr. Luttges
being Postmaster with Mr. Bartlett as assistant

The house that shipbuilder Luttges built in 1890
in Maine Praine was octagonal, representing a ship's
wheel There was a circular stairway that led to the
widow's walk at the top. Inside, the workmanship was
said to be magnificent,

Dan Silva rented land from Clarence Luttges.
Then the Rogers family came to Maine Prairie and lived
in the old Luttges house. Mr. Rogers was a good horse-
man, and worked for Sam Silvey with his harness horses,
and drove for a Mr. Davis at the races at the May Fair,
The final remembrance from Clarence Luttges is of rice
being grown in Maine Prairie. Hindus tried to grow rice
around 1918, The work was done at the Bamhart Ranch
(5,000 acres, from Cache Slough north between the rail-
road and Liberty Island Road). They pumped wate fom
Cache Slough into a ditch running north, which they
built with a horse-drawn Fresno scraper. (This ditch,
called Calhoun Cut, crosses Highway 113.) They had a
beautiful stand of rice but, due to the fact that the nights
were 50 cold, the heads never filled out.

Grain was hauled 1o Maine Prairie and Barnhart
Landing, which was the next station on the railway north
of Maine Prairie. Those who hauled grain from Colusa,

Williams, and Arbuckle were called “buckeye teams.™
Grain was hauled to Maine Praine as late as 1914,

When the Oakland-Antioch electric railroad ex-
tended its line through Maine Praire to Sacramento, a
Mr. Blakemore built warehouses for grain storage at
Bunker, Dozier, Vale, Miller, and Saxen Staticns

Blakemore also built a large building like a hotel
to live in beside the railroad tracks at Vale Station, whi
is on Robben Road south of Maine Prarie Road
building was built from lumber from the 19135 World's
Fair. This hotel was built for Blakemore's workers,
Some came and stayed for hunting and fishing,
were also cattle corrals at these stations, with the
houses storing grain.  That abandoned “hotel” was sti
al Vale Station when we came o the area, but it b
in the late 1950s

Maine Prairie wasn't a town very long, but i
made the history books and it was colorful. Dixon Boat
Club is situated where the town of Alton was.
were buildings and warehouses on both sides of the
street.  There were two swinging bridges across the
slough.

We were told that Henry Peters and Wallace
McCormick, who was head of the State Reclamation
Roard, were good hunting buddies. So, our ranch has
the maximum height levee, whereas the surrounding area,
including Liberty Island across the slough to the east
does not. 'We formed a Reclamation District in the 19408
and have a levee inspection by the Department of Water
Fesources twice a vear. Inspectors who had been with
the department a long time would tell of the Chingss
making the early levees in the lower delta. They just
blocks of peat, stacked them, and jabbed bamboo po
through them to hold them together. Phyllis Taylor's
mather told her that one of our barms was made of Tum-
ber from the old Maine Praine Hotel. The water n
were given for agriculture, manufacturing, and other
business purposes recognized by customs, and by deci-
sions of the court.

Our ranch in Maine Prairie is called “Peters
Pocket” because it is the shape of a pocket, surrounded
by sloughs. We purchased it from Elwood Peters, who
had inherited it from his father, Henry Peters. The land
was originally granted, in 1872, to Fredrick Frugledorf,
and the patents from the land gram offices went to Wash-
ington and were signed by President Ulysses S, Grant.
The power easement to the Great Western Power
pany was made in January, 1927, and switched over t
PG&E in 1931. The ranch was that swamp and over-
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flow land from the Delta. The State Reclamation Board
wis established in 1911 My records show the first in-
spection of'the project levees on Peters Tract were made
mn May of 1952 with the levees having been made with
the old Fresno scraper in the "30s

South of Dixon there are many groves of euca-
lyptus trees. A single tree, which grows incredibly fast,
absorbs six times its own weight in water from the soil
in 24 howrs and gives off camphorated vapors. The ac-
tion of the vapor cannot fail to be a great disinfectant
where emphyvsema abounds. It was an “old wives' tale”
that people planted, or made sure they lived next 1o, a
cucalyptus tree so they wouldn't get consumption
Mancy Campbell told of eucalyptus being planted in the
Denverton area by eastern investors who then sold the
plots for wood for furniture making But eucalyptus

toasts as it dnes, so no furniture was ever made,

But back to the Port of Maine Prairie: After the
turn of the century, Vacaville became an early fruit grow-
ing area. The plantings of these orchards extended up
the sides of the Vaca hills. Mow, when it rained. it was
inevilable that the water running through these cultivated
orchards would carry soil info the creeks. Over the years
the Maine Prairie basin filled with soil. Now what 15 left
15 shallow and overgrown

(Since this reporiwas oviginally presened arglly by Lucy
Vassar for the Dixon Historical Society, it has been re-
vised and edifed for brevity and contimity in the printed
form )
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